36th Annual Ida Lee Willis Memorial Foundation Preservation Awards Tributes

Project Awards
· Botherum, Lexington

· Clarkson House, Vine Grove 

· First Presbyterian Church, Georgetown

· Wolf Pen Branch Mill Farm Mill Restoration, Jefferson County 

Grassroots Partner Award
· Jenkins School Apartments, AU Associates, for the project, made possible only because of the years of advocacy put forth by the Old Jenkins School Renovation Committee

 

Service to Preservation
· Hotel Metropolitan Museum, Paducah

· Marian Development Group, Louisville

· Liberty Hall – National Society of the Colonial Dames of America in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, Frankfort

ILW Memorial Award
Drs. David Pollack and A. Gwynn Henderson
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Preservation Project Award

Botherum, Lexington

The house known as “Botherum” has had a storied history, one that continues in the hands of its current owners, garden designer Jon Carloftis and his partner, Dale Fisher. “I’ve wanted that house since 1984, when I bartended a party there. I've loved that house ever since,” Carloftis told the Herald-Leader, in 2012.

Botherum was constructed in 1851 as the residence for Madison C. Johnson. The single-story home was designed by John McMurtry, a Lexington architect and builder, and is unique in that the design incorporates Greek, Roman, and Gothic architectural elements.

The 36-acre estate was sold in 1886 to J.C. Woodward, who subdivided much of it into the Woodward Heights neighborhood. The house was listed in the National Register in 1973, while the surrounding historic district was listed in 1980. The property was altered in the latter part of the 20th century before sitting vacant for 20 years.

Renowned architectural historian Clay Lancaster once wrote that “Botherum is a jewel of architecture, which contains the finest interior of its type in existence.”

The home is a blend of “delightful and eclectic interiors,” wrote the author of the nomination. “Each chamber is a study of spatial transitions, connectivity to the exterior, and natural lighting. This is why the property offered such potential for a garden designer with the skill to uphold the outdoor’s promise to the interior spaces.”

According to a recent article in Garden & Gun, “Carloftis took care to restore the home’s original layout. Crews spent more than 15 months repairing leaks and fixing the plaster walls. ‘There were 400 cracks in the drawing room alone,’” he told the magazine.

The rehabilitation project has been heralded for its authenticity and drawn widespread interest. When the home was featured during one of the Blue Grass Trust’s monthly Dee-Tours, more than 800 people showed up!

In recognition of the preservation of one of Lexington’s most historically and architecturally unique residences, this Preservation Project Award is presented to Jon Carloftis and Dale Fisher for Botherum.
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Preservation Project Award

Clarkson House, Vine Grove 

Dating to 1802, Clarkson House is located on a ridge overlooking gently rolling agricultural land in southeastern Meade County, and was constructed by Leonard Burch as his private residence. According to family tradition, it was built by the same architect as Federal Hill in Bardstown. The home and 250 acres came into possession of the Clarkson family in 1837, and the house was purchased by Mary Griffith through a Clarkson descendant.

Clarkson House is a five-bay, two-story, Federal-style brick structure on a stone foundation, with a 1½-story frame and log wing added in the 1840s. Mary and her husband, Bob, have completely restored the home – although, that is somewhat of an understatement.

The author of the nomination puts it this way: “The single most striking feature of the Clarkson House is its determination not to die.” Without the Griffiths dedication to preservation, the structure was almost lost to history.

The house was struck by a tornado in 1890, which caused a southwest corner to bulge. The building was abandoned in 1964. By the time the Griffiths purchased it, one third of the south wall of the main house, and a brick chimney, had collapsed. The first floor of the log addition had deteriorated, while deterioration of the roof had caused the entire east wall of this section to collapse. The stone foundations along two sections had also completely failed. 

Even in this poor condition, the house was listed in the National Register in 1983, recognized for its significance in architecture and engineering. Throughout the rehabilitation process, the Griffiths made very few changes to the historic facades of the house, and consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, repaired materials where possible and replaced only when necessary. It truly stands as a prime example to all that – like the Phoenix rising from the ashes – historic structures can be brought back to life, with perseverance and determination.

In recognition of their extraordinary commitment to preserving and restoring the Clarkson House, this Preservation Project Award is presented to Robert W. and Mary H. Griffith.
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Preservation Project Award 

First Presbyterian Church, Georgetown

When the pin joint on the historic truss framing began to fail at First Presbyterian Church in

Georgetown, some in the congregation questioned whether the building needed to be demolished. Unfortunately, this singular failure created a serious structural problem – as the wood peg had sheared, and the upper chord members of the truss were bearing on the brick masonry wall, without the proper tension and support. 

In fact this seemingly minor event pushed the masonry completely out of plumb, to the point of potential collapse. But church leaders acted quickly to stabilize the structure, under the leadership of Gaither Bailey, minister, and Leo Reed, head of the church building committee. 

The brick, Gothic Revival church was constructed between 1865 to 1870, and some of the original furnishings are still in use today, including a marble pedestal table and baptismal font, communion linens, a pulpit, and 11 benches dedicated to the memory of various individuals. 

 

In 1890, First Presbyterian Church underwent extensive repair including the addition of electric lighting and stained glass windows. A Sunday school annex was added in 1923, and in 1978, the church and other structures along East Main Street were listed in the National Register as the East Main Street Residential Historic District.
Fortunately, First Presbyterian and Holy Trinity Episcopal churches remain the oldest houses of worship in Georgetown. When the structural issue first came to light, church leaders might just have easily opted to demolish the building and start over.

Instead, acting at the direction of the congregation, the sanctuary was closed from February through November 2013 for major reconstruction and stabilization, and repairs were made beginning with reinforced connections for all of the wood truss members. Decisions were also made to preserve and restore all the interior elements, including the historic stained glass windows, and to repair plaster and tuckpoint masonry.

In recognition of the swift decision to act on behalf of preserving their church, for themselves and future generations, this Preservation Project Award is presented for First Presbyterian Church of Georgetown. 
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Preservation Project Award

Wolf Pen Branch Mill Farm Mill Restoration, Jefferson County 

Sallie Bingham is a noted writer and founder of the Kentucky Foundation for Women. She is also a noted preservationist, for her outstanding stewardship of the historic grist mill located on her Wolf Pen Branch Mill Farm.

Ms. Bingham donated a conservation easement for this property to River Fields Inc. and the Kentucky Heritage Council in 1998, to ensure that the mill and surrounding 412 acres of farmland would remain undeveloped and protected into perpetuity. She was concerned about rapid development in the area and loss of historic and natural resources. This easement encompassed one of the largest undeveloped tracts of land in Eastern Jefferson County, as well as several historic structures and the water-powered grist mill.

A mill has been located at this site along Wolf Pen Branch since the 1830s; however, the current mill dates to 1875. This vernacular structure of rustic limestone is about four stories tall, and was operated weekly into the 1970s. Ms. Bingham purchased the property in 1986 with the intention of restoring the mill to operation, and while the mill was started a few times, it was never fully operational.

In 2011, after many years of discussion, planning and conversation including the Kentucky Old Mill Association, Ms. Bingham decided to restore the mill to its 1875 appearance. She hired Ben Hassett, a nationally recognized historic water mill restorer and millwright, and over the course of 2½ years, he meticulously repaired, restored and rebuilt the mill complex.

This restoration project involved many steps in a carefully laid out plan: completely rebuilding the mill wheel, the structure’s interior, and the mill dam; repairing and refurbishing the machinery; restoring the mill raceway; and dredging the mill pond. Each step was reviewed and approved by the Kentucky Heritage Council and River Fields in accordance with the conservation easement.

Today, in recognition of her commitment to restore the mill to the highest of standards and craftsmanship, this Preservation Project Award is presented to Sallie Bingham. 
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Grassroots Partner Award

Old Jenkins School Renovation Committee and AU Associates Inc., 

for Jenkins School Apartments

Look up the definition of “grass roots” and you find ordinary people pooling their energy and resources to achieve extraordinary results – exactly what happened with the advocacy movement that went into saving the old Jenkins School.

According to James Polly, a long-time volunteer and chairman of the Jenkins School Renovation Committee, “This group has worked tirelessly since 1992 to preserve and renovate the old school on Main Street.” The iconic building was in danger of being demolished, and the committee fought hard to not only save the school but to educate others about why preservation of this local landmark was important.

Jenkins School is listed in the National Register, noted as the largest and finest school to be produced as part of Consolidated Coal Company’s efforts to develop Jenkins as a coal camp. The school’s construction in 1912 was part of a dramatic period of investment in the community by the company. 

The renovation committee was founded by Jenkins native Rosemary Shook. She and others conducted tours, organized work days, solicited funding and donations from alumni as well as local and state government, and contacted public officials with their concerns.

“It was a long and oftentimes difficult struggle,” says Mr. Polly. But after more than two decades, the group finally achieved its goal in partnership with AU Associates Inc. of Lexington, which has a long track record of converting empty historic schools into beautiful and affordable housing. Recognizing the need in this rural community, the company stepped in where the renovation committee left off, taking up the banner by repurposing the historic school into safe, affordable senior housing.

The grand opening of the new Jenkins School Apartments took place February 11, with the unveiling of 26 new one- and two-bedroom housing units. Features include a senior center, beautifully restored corridors, and the original gym.

In recognition of their advocacy on behalf of Old Jenkins School, and for fulfilling its promise, this Grassroots Partner Award is presented to the Old Jenkins School Renovation Committee and AU Associates Inc. 

2014 Ida Lee Willis Memorial Foundation Preservation Awards

Service to Preservation Award 

Marian Development Group, Louisville

As we have seen from success stories such as Jenkins School Apartments, one of the more successful historic preservation models in Kentucky has become the adaptive re-use of historic schools for low-income housing. Marian Development Group has coupled the supply of solid building stock found in historic schools with a specific program user – which is, single-parent households.

Few projects demonstrate the company’s commitment to people, neighborhoods and community like Louisville’s Family Scholar Houses. In partnership with Louisville’s Project Women and the Kentucky Housing Corporation, these building rehabilitation projects provide affordable apartments for unemployed or underemployed single parents and their children, while parents work toward completing their education and becoming self-sufficient.
Based in Louisville and co-owned by Jake and Cynthia Brown, Marion Development Group has proven to invest in quality building rehabilitation projects. In the past two years, they have completed three projects in historic schools utilizing the historic preservation tax credit. Two in Louisville are the recently completed Parkland Scholar House, converted from the 1891 Parkland Public School Building, and the Stoddard Johnson Scholar House, converted from a 1915 Beaux Arts-style elementary school, which also included some new construction.

The third is LaSallette Garden Apartments in Covington, formerly LaSalette Academy, which was particularly well-executed on the exterior with particular attention paid to the windows. This is vital, since windows are a defining feature of any historic building, and preserving them not only keeps a majority of historic fabric intact, but also results in greater value in the long run.

Fortunately, historic schools are frequently found in good proximity to college campuses, and within denser neighborhoods with existing pedestrian and transit infrastructure.

According to their mission statement, Marian Development Group exists to enhance the quality of life for people, through thoughtful selection and development of projects that strengthen and revitalize neighborhoods, and through strong partnerships and collaborations that benefit the larger community. 

In recognition of their commitment to invest not only in historic buildings but also in people, this Service to Preservation Award is presented to Marian Development Group. 
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Service to Preservation Award

Upper Town Heritage Foundation, Hotel Metropolitan, Paducah

No one tells the story of how the Upper Town Heritage Foundation came to be than one of its founders, Betty Dobson. Quoting from a letter she submitted, Ms. Dobson writes:

“In the summer of 1999 my friend, Sheryl Cooper, and I were standing on the vacant lot across from the then-condemned Hotel Metropolitan, when an older gentleman, Rev. Jimmy Hodge, approached us. He began to share memories of the Hotel Metropolitan in its heydays. Rev. Hodge told us stories about B.B. King sitting on the porch of the hotel playing his guitar while eating sweet potato pie, and how Ike and Tina Turner with their band stayed at the Hotel Metropolitan when they performed in Paducah.

“Rev. Hodge told us about Thurgood Marshall, Louis Armstrong, Count Basie, Cab Calloway, Ella Fitzgerald, Ray Charles, Billie Holiday – and the list went on. Rev. Hodge ended with the statement, ‘It's a shame that we are losing another historic Black building.’”

As sometimes happens, from this brief conversation arose a mighty effort, and Ms. Dobson and Ms. Cooper set about the work of preserving this building and all the history contained within. The ladies founded the Upper Town Heritage Foundation in September 1999 and spent the next decade partnering with individuals and organizations too numerous to name, to complete the arduous task of raising support, raising funds, and raising the roof for the preservation and rehabilitation of this historic gem.

The Hotel Metropolitan was built in 1909 by Maggie Steed, an African American woman, who, along with her husband, would take in African American travelers as they passed through Paducah. After his death, Ms. Steed decided to build a hotel that would provide respectable accommodations for “Colored Travelers.”

Nearly a century later, the Upper Town Heritage Foundation has not only succeeded in restoring the Hotel Metropolitan, but today the nonprofit continues to manage the hotel as a Bed & Breakfast and museum, regularly hosting events and exhibits relating to African American heritage.

In recognition of their long-term commitment to the Hotel Metropolitan, this Service to Preservation Award is presented to the Upper Town Heritage Foundation.
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Service to Preservation Award 

Liberty Hall – National Society of the Colonial Dames of America in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, Frankfort

2014 marks the 75th anniversary of the management of Frankfort’s Liberty Hall Historic Site as a museum. The last member of the Brown family to live in Liberty Hall – Mary Mason Scott – was herself a Colonial Dame and outlined a plan that was carried out to turn this property over to the Dames in Kentucky to manage as a museum.

Liberty Hall is a National Historic Landmark, constructed for Senator John Brown between 1796 to 1803. Clay Lancaster calls it “the finest example of early Federal-era architecture in Kentucky.” Its neighbor is the Greek Revival-style Orlando Brown House, constructed for Senator Brown’s son in 1835 by architect Gideon Shryock, Kentucky’s first professional architect.

Liberty Hall Historic Site is jointly owned and operated by Liberty Hall Inc. and the National

Society of the Colonial Dames of America in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. For 75 years, these private, nonnprofit organizations have proudly maintained and preserved these sites, and continue this tradition today.

Liberty Hall anchors its historic downtown neighborhood, listed in the National Register as the Corner in Celebrities. In fact, it was a Colonial Dame who prepared and submitted that historic district nomination to the National Register – none other than Mrs. Sally Willis Meigs.

The Colonial Dames have demonstrated model preservation programs and sought out the best practices for this property. The innovation has extended to developing unique community programs and bringing in professional staff.

The impact on this neighborhood and downtown has been immeasurable – from preschoolers with memories of Easter Egg hunts in the gardens, to those who come to study the early Kentucky furniture and the portrait collection preserved in place. From participants in annual seminars on research topics – to the many visitors from other states and countries who stop by for a tour and a lesson on early Kentucky statehood and the first Senator from Kentucky.

In recognition of their ongoing commitment, this Service to Preservation Award is presented to the National Society of the Colonial Dames of America in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, Frankfort.

2014 Ida Lee Willis Memorial Award
This year’s Ida Lee Willis Memorial Award for outstanding commitment to historic preservation is being presented to not one, but two of the most dedicated preservationists and archaeologists working in the Commonwealth, Dr. A. Gwynn Henderson and Dr. David Pollack. No two people could better represent the mission and meaning of this award. Not coincidentally, they also happen to be married.

Dr. Henderson is the Education Coordinator for the Kentucky Archaeological Survey, a joint partnership between the Kentucky Heritage Council and the UK Department of Anthropology. Dr. Pollack is Director of the Kentucky Archaeological Survey, and for many years served a dual role as Director of KAS and as staff archaeologist, review coordinator and Site Protection Program manager for the Kentucky Heritage Council. Both are also Adjunct Assistant Professors in the Department of Anthropology at UK.

Although neither is a native of Kentucky, it would seem you cannot think of an aspect of Kentucky archaeology in the past 30 years in which one or both of them didn’t have some kind of involvement.

Individually, Dr. Henderson has prepared archaeology-related content for teacher activity guides, worked on a traveling exhibit about Kentucky archaeology, and developed and administered two programs: the Kentucky Archaeological Registry, a landowner site protection program; and the Kentucky Archaeology Education Network, which serves as a clearinghouse of information for teachers and educators.

Her book, Kentuckians Before Boone, is likely responsible for more people being aware of Native American presence in the Commonwealth and debunking the “Myth of the Dark and Bloody Ground” than any other single publication.

Dr. Pollack has served as the Director of the Kentucky Archaeological Survey since its inception in 1995. In this capacity, he has also provided employment and research opportunities for numerous undergraduate and graduate students at UK, offering practical field experience and training. Through KAS, Dr. Pollack has been able to mobilize cost-effective efforts to assist state agencies and local governments in their compliance with state laws protecting archaeological sites and cemeteries—and improving our understanding of Kentucky’s past in the process.  

Among the most noteworthy of such projects—Frankfort’s forgotten cemetery, the many unmarked graves on the grounds of Eastern State Hospital and the Kentucky Horse Park in Lexington, and the incredible site along Highway 61 in Cumberland County with evidence of occupation that spans nearly the entirety of human presence in Kentucky.
Dr. Pollack was also the lead in developing a Geographical Information Systems (GIS) database for archaeological sites and historic structures throughout Kentucky, which has helped correct errors in the collection of data and recording of sites, and greatly facilitated the way archaeology is conducted.

One of the most important legacies Drs. Henderson and Pollack have imparted to Kentucky preservation was borne out of a terrible travesty—the organized looting of hundreds of Native American graves by a few unscrupulous individuals at the Slack Farm site in Union County in 1987.  Once the looters were stopped by law enforcement, archaeologists and a group of more than 500 local volunteers—organized by Drs. Henderson and Pollack—participated in a massive recovery effort to glean as much useful data from this important site as possible.  These efforts resulted in a booklet written by Pollack, Henderson and Cheryl Munson of Indiana University-Bloomington, Slack Farm and the Caborn-Welborn People, as well as strengthened state laws regulating the looting of burial sites.

In addition to many other publications, Drs. Henderson and Pollack have worked with others to research, write and produce a series of videos through the Kentucky Archaeology and Heritage Video Series.

Collectively, their work has greatly influenced and changed what we now know about Kentucky’s prehistoric Native American cultures as well as our more recent past.

For these accomplishments and so many more achieved through a lifetime commitment to the field of archaeology, the 2014 Ida Lee Willis Memorial Award is presented jointly to Dr. David Pollack and Dr. A. Gwynn Henderson.
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